Public Document Pack

NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL N_I

5 July 2019 Our Ref Overview and Scrutiny Review
of Hitchin Town Hall and
District Museum
Your Ref.
Contact. Scrutiny Officer

Direct Dial.
Email. ScrutinyOfficer@north-herts.gov.uk

To: Members of the Panel: John Richardson (Independent Chairman), Councillor Sam Collins,
Councillor lan Moody, Councillor Helen Oliver and Councillor Valentine Shanley

You are invited to attend a

MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY REVIEW OF
HITCHIN TOWN HALL AND DISTRICT MUSEUM
(DAY ONE)

to be held in the

COUNCIL CHAMBER, DISTRICT COUNCIL OFFICES, GERNON
ROAD, LETCHWORTH GARDEN CITY

On

WEDNESDAY, 17TH JULY, 2019 AT 2.00 PM
**MEMBERS PLEASE ENSURE THAT YOU DOWNLOAD ALL

AGENDAS AND REPORTS VIA THE MOD.GOV APPLICATION
ON YOUR TABLET BEFORE ATTENDING THE MEETING**

Yours sincerely,

/,4 /fﬂ, _

Jeanette Thompson
Service Director — Legal and Community



Item

1.

2.

HEARING PROCEDURE

WITNESS STATEMENTS

Agenda
Part |

Page

(Pages 3
-4)

(Pages 5
- 38)



Agenda ltem 1

NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE | q I

DISTRICT COUNCIL ]x

Procedure Guidance for Panel Hearing of the Hitchin Town Hall / North Herts
Museum Review

Beginning of the meeting:

Chairman’s Welcome:

The Chairman will formally open the Hearing and the Panel will be introduced.
The Chairman will explain the format of the Hearing and the purpose of the Panel.
Questioning:

Each invited Witness will be provided the opportunity to update or emphasise anything
further to that which was submitted in the initial statement. A maximum of 10 minutes is
allocated.

The Hearing will then proceed with the Chairman and Members of the Panel asking a series
of questions to the selected Witness.

A maximum of 45 minutes in total has been allocated to each Witness and the Chairman will
endeavour to strictly adhere to this in order to ensure that the business of the Panel is
transacted as expeditiously as is reasonably possible.

The Chairman of the Panel may stop persons from speaking at any time if he considers the
matters being presented to be defamatory, improper or outside the scope of the review.

When the Chairman speaks during a debate, any person speaking at the time must stop and
the meeting must be silent.

If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the Chairman may
adjourn the meeting for as long as he thinks necessary.

At the end of the questions the Chairman will invite any closing remarks of both the Panel
and the Witness.

Right to address the Panel:

The right to address the Panel will be confined to only those witnesses that have been
invited to attend the Hearing.

Members of the public are able to attend the Hearing and sit in the public gallery.

Once a Witness has addressed the Panel the Withess may leave the Hearing should they so
wish.

Page 3



NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE |q I

DISTRICT COUNCIL m

Recording of the Hearing:

An audio recording of the meeting will be taken and subsequently made available on the
NHDC website.

Recording Meetings

Persons taking their own recording of the Hearing must comply with the Council’s Protocol
for Recording of Council Meetings and ensure that the Hearing is not disrupted or disturbed.

https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/recording-council-meetings

Page 4


https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/recording-council-meetings

Agenda Item 2

NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL Nr_l

Council Offices, Gernon Road, Letchworth Garden City, Hertfordshire, SG6 3JF

D@

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
REVIEW OF
HITCHIN TOWN HALL AND DISTRICT MUSEUM

THOSE INVITED TO GIVE A VERBAL PRESENTATION ON
STATEMENTS SUBMITTED

DAY 1
17 July 2019
2.00 pm —8.00 pm
District Council Offices
Gernon Road
Letchworth Garden City

John Robinson
Colin Dunham
Rosemary Read
Hitchin Forum/Hitchin Society
Steve Crowley
Keep Hitchin Special

DAY 2
18 July 2019
10.00 am - 4.00 pm
Brotherhood Hall
Gernon Road
Letchworth Garden City

Hitchin Initiative
Patricia Cowley
Stephen Pike
David Leal-Bennett
David Morgan
Lynda Needham

The following statements have been included.
However, at the time of publication, the following have indicated that they are unavailable to attend the above
dates

David Scholes
Brent Smith

REDACTIONS

Having reviewed all statements submitted, redactions refer to the removal of personal information or that which
is outside the scope of the investigation.


hdineen
Typewriter
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
REVIEW OF
HITCHIN TOWN HALL AND DISTRICT MUSEUM


THOSE INVITED TO GIVE A VERBAL PRESENTATION ON
STATEMENTS SUBMITTED


DAY 1
17 July 2019
2.00 pm – 8.00 pm
District Council Offices
Gernon Road
Letchworth Garden City

John Robinson  
Colin Dunham
Rosemary Read
Hitchin Forum/Hitchin Society
Steve Crowley
Keep Hitchin Special

DAY 2
18 July 2019
10.00 am - 4.00 pm
Brotherhood Hall
Gernon Road
Letchworth Garden City 

Hitchin Initiative 
Patricia Cowley
Stephen Pike 
David Leal-Bennett
David Morgan 
Lynda Needham

The following statements have been included. 
However, at the time of publication, the following have indicated that they are unavailable to attend the above dates

David Scholes
Brent Smith



REDACTIONS

Having reviewed all statements submitted, redactions refer to the removal of personal information or that which is outside the scope of the investigation.

hdineen_1
Typewriter

hdineen_2
Typewriter

hdineen_3
Rectangle

hdineen_4
Rectangle


This page is intentionally left blank



NHDC Scrutiny Review: North Herts Museum Project Statement of John Robinson,
former Strategic Director Customer Services & Project Executive for NHDC

| was employed by NHDC between 2000 and 2016 initially as Head of Community Planning
and subsequently as Director of Corporate Services and Strategic Director Customer
Services from 2002. At that time | assumed responsibility for both Hitchin Town Hall and
NHDC Museum Service and ‘Project Executive’ for the Museum & Town Hall project. This
statement covers my experience until my departure in September 2016. Prior to joining
NHDC | was employed since 1977 in a variety of roles in Local Government specialising in
sports, recreation and community development, most latterly as Head of Community
Development and Advice Services for Peterborough City Council.

Background, Project Management & Partnership Working - The Hitchin Town Hall and
District Museum project was one of the most ambitious and complex projects undertaken by
NHDC in recent years. In addition to the complexities of the construction project in a Grade
2 listed building, it was acknowledged from the outset that the decision to consolidate two
museums into one and create a sustainable future for Hitchin Town Hall was likely to be
contentious.

The project and the associated Council decision making process is extensively documented,
as are the processes for ‘partner’ engagement and much of this can be viewed at
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/museums/hitchin-town-hall-museum-proposals As far
as is possible the key stages in the project are illustrated in the timeline detailed in figure 1
below.

Figure 1: Key Stages & Assessment of Partnership Performance
E3

Aug 2005

Nov 2010

Dec 2010

Jan 2011

Dec 2012
Apr 2013

Dec 2013 to
March 2015

Jan 2016
Sept 2016

RIBA Stage

0
A

1
B

2
C

3
D

a
E.F,. G

5
K

7
L

Strategic
Definition

Preparation 8
Brief

ConceptDesign

Developed
Design

Technical Design

Construction

Handover &
Close Qut

Development
Agreement (DA)

Community
management of
Town Hall
explored

Detailed
development of
community
management
model

First DA signed
Oct 2012

Second DA
Signed
September 2013

Key Stages

Cabinetagreed
Museum
Fundamental
Service Review
(FSR)

Cabinetagreedto
the construction
of the Museum
in Mountford Hall
Jan 2009

Council approves
first Community
Group

proposal

Feb 2010

Council agrees
alternative
Community
Group proposal
Nov 2011

= Hitchin Town
Hall Ltd's
(HTH Ltd)
funders
withdraw

= HTH Ltd claim
breach by
Council — Feb
14

= Council claim
breach by
HTH Ltd —Jul

14

HTH Finance Ltd
obtained control
of 14/15 Brand
Street

Partnership Hitchin Town Hall
Performance Ltd March 2012

The project was managed using the standard PRINCE methodology which was successfully
utilised by the Council for major projects of this scale. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/PRINCE2

Key political, community and technical interests were comprehensively involved in formal

and informal process, so far as was practicable, from the outset, for example:

e NHDC Museum FSR from 2004 until 2005: A statutory service review under the terms of
the Local Government Act 1999 directly involved partners from Hertfordshire County
Council and the East of England Museums, Libraries & Archives Council. The review
also established the NH Arts, Museum and Heritage (AMH) Forum and consulted via the
Council’'s Citizens Panel to directly involve partners and the community at large in the
development of an AMH Strategy for the district, including the proposed new Museum.

o The development of capacity and collaborative working with the ‘Community Alliance’
facilitated by Hitchin Initiative to develop a business case for a community managed
facility and NHDC managed museum at the Hitchin Town Hall site.

e The direct and detailed involvement of HTH Ltd, the Council’s political leadership and
funders in the Town Hall and Museum project Board and associated technical groups to
agree and implement the complex Development Agreement (DA) between it and the
Council from 2012.

Page 7


https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/museums/hitchin-town-hall-museum-proposals
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/PRINCE2

The project engaged a wide range of partners many with vehemently held views however,
the principal partnership with HTH Ltd is examined in two key aspects. The ‘partnership
environment’ was particularly complex and widespread use of social and other media made
this even more so. This is illustrated at https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/files/partnershipspdf

Partnership & Trust - As the project developed from agreeing a strategic direction through
to a contractual relationship to finance, construct and manage a direct public service the
nature of partnership working also changed. At the outset relations with partners were good
and characterised by a strong common purpose and resolve, but as the initial ‘Community
Alliance’ transferred responsibility to a limited company/registered charity and entered into at
a contractual DA, the competing pressures to control costs, ensure financial sustainability
and satisfy community aspirations caused the principle relationship with HTH Ltd to become
increasingly commercial in nature and fraught.

Having entered in to a formal DA in October 2012, HTH Ltd immediately and unilaterally
decided to abandon this in favour of a more ambitious development. Failure to accept this
would have entailed HTH Ltd deserting the project accruing significant additional costs to the
Council. In agreeing the revised development level of financial and other risks to the Council
increased substantially.

As negotiations to finalise the second DA proceeded HTH Ltd sought a number of changes
to the scheme but seemed unable to adopt robust organisational arrangements to meet its
obligations or engage constructively with local groups.

Increasingly HTH Ltd sought to influence public and political opinion to its favour in a
contractual dispute whilst the Council, mindful it's financial and exposure and legal
obligations sought to progress resolution as envisaged in the DA. In the end neither
approach was successful as HTH Ltd’s funders withdrew finance because of breaches in its
funding agreement and HTH Ltd refused to engage with NHDC in the formal DA resolution
provisions.

Future working relationships with partners should therefore ensure that attempts to influence
public/political opinion to the financial benefit of those partners (for example through lease
terms) are precluded more effectively.

Although the DA foresaw the need to ensure HTH Ltd embedded public accountability and
involvement in its governance, HTH Ltd refused to provide evidence this was achieved.
Consideration should therefore be given to whether alternative and enforceable
arrangements could be used to ensure the public benefit of similar projects is not
Jeopardised.

Councillors- Councillors roles as both elected representatives and partners, was reflected
in their detailed involvement in the project from the outset; through Full Council, Cabinet and
Hitchin Area Committee in particular. These roles appeared to be made difficult as a result
of the inclusion of a HTH Ltd Director in the (then) ruling Conservative group as a
prospective candidate and latterly as a Councillor. Difficulties in managing apparent and real
conflicts of interest were frequently presented to officers involved in the project and senior
officers were subjected to a series of threats and complaints in an apparent attempt to
intimidate and benefit HTH Ltd’s commercial interests.

The potential for confilicts of interest for Councillors acting as Trustees or Directors etc for
local groups needs to be managed carefully. Existing processes appear unwieldy and
inadequate in preventing individuals exerting influence or behaving inappropriately.

Councillors more generally were frequently lobbied by community activists often based on
misleading media and other statements by HTH Ltd. This appeared to be a purposeful
attempt to influence the Council’s decision making to the benefit of HTH Ltd. As a result
regular written reports, briefings and MIS notes were produced to keep Councillors fully
informed. This approach appears to have been partly successful if resource draining.

Page 8


https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/files/partnershipspdf

NB: Address, Email address and telephone number had been redacted.

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



| NHDC - COLIN DUNHAL ’
oo | HER

L icd 70 Corulil ZHE FOLLOLANS

e, ..'\Tc.\P\\)mw 2c oz H THINH HuSsum

FDQ D/SL,C’f

/L puiRele Ll E (Lrﬂ7 w T DARL

M E Yen T Ra R Sad Rioch

Pﬂ WiTe ol coMMITEE No Cofis

\WELE _ AvalLa®LE —7D LR S 06277’7'23'_ -

Q\J%U& e Js ofhaTes

ON OpNPE (_DC_C/"-\S?}'()\) MR RO N Sl L7

WS A SIS AT

Ve A a7 A nkd o7 A

P%LCTD DO ESEL 857

~THS way Vi R A 751 DKy

/for’mﬁ/(f\\% | £ 7l e QURLIc

T oS gt heQlln) AA -

| TZeuieVE ClaN? Hpwey mr)’ O FTAYED

N
J

LN\ HooT ~7THE ow NaSH R @ F 7€ 5//ff(

REING £ (LA ED p2oQBllY 7D 7 HE Towens

a C’Mﬂﬁ(ﬁ‘,/fr’? L uﬁﬁc/ /ey QH/&U 7>

[ 7RE TE M, ED & ColPolozied Jtn

A WS copflany |aws  ONAELL <D Sl QRrirz®

)/'\& 6\P(<7 \“*L £20LS

o L& e LT ﬁ/"_\lﬁg”bzf‘ HAY A ccuyulATD

~The e \WFotina?Z N 2e/8

e R EThWT e ECES LualD  Balk Cllow A /fz’//&

paly ey AT el ored

UL ABVIETDING  COM TRACTIA AIpS ALLOWIED

~To USE_A Fole L-LF7 Thucl /fO TP LA C L

f\\) | C G Moa %fw AAWE TIUn, Ha S

L)
NER AT rrwaﬁ 2o




A Con Tt
S R EUE THS s canSed

A UBUC A HAaVE T A FEL

= L Puncemeds of 7 S f,éfu/uq To4el

1 /\ NUGE cod7..

@ L MerTio™N En” A N i KaYuMay

NZEERVITV; Lol 1a) FhE T DI N b O
Tond AQ;; '

A0 Nel EViDERLE  pF 7 HE .

~TMes ] Lol MoRAL 1| caoUbd

SURMT" BT | Sullle st et

"?ﬂ)gui L Ll SURMIT OgHER BV e es

Cloges Prccaes

NB Address, Telephone Number and Signature Redacted



hdineen_5
Typewriter
NB Address, Telephone Number and Signature Redacted


I have lived in Hitchin since the 1970s and have also worked in the town. For much of that
time | have been a member of various community groups, and have a keen interest in the
town’s buildings and public spaces. Before retirement | worked as a pensions professional
for a Life Office. | was a director of Hitchin Town Hall Ltd (HTH), responsible for liaison with
the local community, from April 2011 to April 2015.

All the HTH directors had responsible professional careers. Their only motive in taking on
the project was to obtain the best outcome for the town and its people. We were all, without
exception, saddened and infuriated by the way NHDC treated us in our attempts to
participate equally in the project under the terms of the Development Agreement (the DA)
signed by both parties. The project was billed as being a “Partnership” between HTH Ltd
and NHDC, which implies a high degree of equality and openness between the parties.
However, throughout the project our experience was that dealings with the council were far
from open or equal.

a) The DA was initially drafted entirely from NHDC'’s point of view: e.g. there was
provision for them to withdraw from the agreement but not for HTH to do so. Arriving
at an agreement that we could sign took far longer than was necessary.

b) NHDC made alterations to the agreed plans without consulting HTH, notably the wall
across the stage, seriously reducing its size, in order to provide support for air
conditioning units for the museum. HTH only discovered this when we sent a
contractor in to do a survey — it was not reported to us by NHDC and was not on any
of the plans that were made available to us. In addition they placed large hearing
and electrical units in listed areas of the building, diminishing the Hall’s aesthetics
and contravening listed building planning regulations.

c) During construction, they made major alterations to the Hall, which is a Listed
Building, without obtaining the requisite permissions. This was carried out without
informing HTH beforehand, despite the requirement in the DA to consult us about
any proposed alterations to the plans. The officer concerned managed to persuade
councillors to approve what had happened and to give themselves retrospective
permission, despite many well-informed representations to the contrary from both
townspeople and opposition councillors. There appeared to be no avenue in law for
the council to be brought to account for these actions.

d) The Project Board meetings we attended were nothing more than HTH being told
what NHDC were planning, and any input we made was ignored. We were not given
reasonable notice of the meetings or offered any input into agendas. The minutes
were skewed towards NHDC's interpretation of discussions, and our attempts to get
minutes corrected were rebuffed. Topics which were important to us were often not
on the agenda, but mentioned ‘in passing’ as we left the meeting.

e) Because of NHDC's failure to consult, and having taken legal advice, in October
2014 HTH informed NHDC of eight material breaches of the agreement committed by
the council. Gagging orders were imposed on the directors by NHDC when we tried
to communicate our problems to the wider community by means of the local press;
we wanted to do this because the council’s minutes of meetings on their website did
not reflect the true position accurately, and were heavily redacted.

f) We felt that the officer in charge of the project, and our only permitted point of
contact, John Robinson, was the main block to a collaborative partnership. His

Page 13



primary objective appeared to be to bulldoze the project through in the way he
wanted it done, despite the fact that HTH would have to deal with the consequences.
We found it impossible to find a way round this problem. Appeals to the Chief
Executive had no practical effect; a formal complaint against Mr Robinson was
investigated by the LGA but was not upheld. We were left in an impossible situation,
our business plan severely compromised and unable to launch essential marketing
efforts.

Later during the construction phase we were banned from making site visits, despite
this being permitted by the DA.

NHDC tried to block any suggestions from HTH for improvements to the design that
would make it easier for the company to make a success of running the project: e.g.
the proposal to purchase 15 Brand Street in order to improve the foyer and café area
took months to finally gain their approval.

It will be clear from the above that the NHDC representatives did not have a “listening”
mode, and were not prepared to give HTH as partners any credit for their professional
knowledge and experience. As the original plan was that HTH would run the venue as a
commercial enterprise, that approach was counter-productive.

Both parties had financial interests in the project, but NHDC only ever considered their own,
never those of the community. We never felt we were on an equal footing, despite the fact
that we were bringing around £500,000 to the project, plus a huge amount of goodwill from
within the town.

The lessons that can be learnt from our experience are:

The council needs to be more open, and prepared, where warranted, to treat
members of the community as equals, and to respect their experience and
commitment.

If a project partner is required, treat the community partner as such.
Ensure that records of meetings accurately reflect the points of view of both sides.

Realise that the council, in a joint project, is not the only body with a financial and
reputational interest.

Mrs Rosemary Read

NB Address, telephone numbers and email address redacted

Page 14



Scrutiny Review: Hitchin Town Hall / North Herts Museum Project

Initial Evidence from: Hitchin Forum & The Hitchin Society 14.6.19

Our main concerns throughout this project had to do with NHDC's lack of transparency and
their habit of taking fundamental decisions about Hitchin Town Hall and Hitchin Museum
before consulting the public, thus making their 'consultations' essentially worthless.

1. Hitchin Museum: From the beginning we attended the meetings of the Council's Arts,
Museums & Heritage Forum (established in January 2006) and their Arts, Museums &
Heritage Strategy Working Party (started in October 2006). The TOR for the latter were to
set out a common vision for Arts, Museums & Heritage services and a comprehensive
strategy for service delivery, including specific priorities and actions. We went into these
meetings, optimistic that we could influence the future of Hitchin Museum. However, it
appeared that the Council was obfuscating; these meetings were about the context to
decisions, not the decisions themselves.

1.2 It soon became clear that there was no future for Hitchin Museum. The fundamental
decision to close Hitchin Museum had already been taken by the Council in 2005,
following a Fundamental Museums Service Review in 2004.

1.3 In May 2006 community groups did a joint presentation to NHDC's Performance, Audit &
Review Committee pointing out that we were strong supporters of the museum service and
understood the need to plan for the future, but adding that what the Council was proposing
for its Museum services was deeply flawed. We asked that all reasonable options be
considered, including retaining, refurbishing and extending Hitchin Museum, and we
presented a high quality option for doing so. We pointed out that the museum service review
must have public support to succeed and that we were the Council's partners as well as
constituents. (A copy of this presentation is available on request.)

1.4 This was to no avail and NHDC ploughed on relentlessly.

2. Hitchin Town Hall (HTH): In February 2006 NHDC took a budget decision to transfer
HTH to a third party operator without considering the far-reaching implications involved in
such a fundamental step change in the provision of a very significant, indeed, unique public
facility. Background to this was a project to use HTH as a community engagement centre
which did not proceed because NHDC was unable to come forward with the necessary
capital monies and so EEDA funding of £200K obtained by Hitchin Town Centre Initiative
(HTCI) was lost.

2.1 In June 2007 a special meeting of the Hitchin Committee recommended to Cabinet that
a decision to award a lease for the management of HTH must be deferred and Hitchin
Committee must be consulted on any future award of a lease. In July the Committee
recommended the tender process for disposal by long lease of HTH be cancelled with
immediate effect and as a matter of urgency Cabinet should establish a Community Forum
to prepare a plan for the improvement and future management of HTH. This was ignored by
Cabinet who approved their own preferred and reserve operators for the future management
of HTH. In July it took a member of the public to highlight serious irregularities and risks of
the shortlisted operators, using merely Google and Companies House public information.

Page 15



2.2 In July the Scrutiny Committee 'called in' the Cabinet decision and, as well as many
other groups, Hitchin Forum wrote to Scrutiny members saying the Council was deciding
without regard to the facts or the public (letter available on request). The Scrutiny verdict
was that public consultation was insufficient, the business expertise of other potential
interested organisations was ignored and Hitchin Committee was not kept informed
throughout the process.

2.3 In October 2007 Cabinet terminated negotiations with the bidders for management of
HTH and said an alternative approach for a management partnership with HTCI should be
explored, including an application to the Community Assets Fund for refurbishment funding.

2.4 In January 2009 a budget gap was identified and Cabinet agreed that they could deal
with two problems at once: install the new North Herts Museum in the Mountford Hall of the
refurbished HTH, thereby closing both Hitchin and Letchworth museums. The report says
that the short time available . . . means consultation with stakeholders and a very detailed
operational and financial analysis have not been carried out.

2.5 Again, a very far-reaching decision was taken without proper consideration of its
implications for the community which NHDC should have been serving. Throughout 2009
this decision was opposed by Hitchin community groups, its business community, the Hitchin
and Letchworth Committees and the Scrutiny Committee. In December 2009 a presentation
to Full Council by Hitchin community, business and arts groups (copy available on request)
asked for a pause, saying HTH was an essential community facility for a town the size of
Hitchin and proposing a community partnership to run it. Council agreed and in February
2010 commissioned a full feasibility study.

2.6 In October 2010 English Heritage listed Hitchin Town Hall, again at the instigation of a
member of the community. In November 2010 Council agreed to take forward the scheme
outlined by Hitchin Initiative (successor to HTCI), incorporating 14 Brand Street, the
Workman's Hall and the Gymnasium as the North Herts Museum and the Mountford Hall as
the Community Facility.

2.7 Hitchin Forum and The Hitchin Society supported Hitchin Initiative and its successor in
the project, Hitchin Town Hall Ltd (HTH Ltd), in their efforts to create a fantastic community
facility for Hitchin and district. HTH Ltd and HI worked diligently and professionally despite
what we understand to have been serious difficulties with NHDC. These are for Hitchin
Initiative and HTH Ltd to raise with the review.

2.8 On balance, it is very regrettable that what was potentially a fantastic community/council
partnership has gone so awry, but it is clear to us that the really far-reaching decisions were
never properly discussed or agreement obtained with the community prior to Council
adoption. This seems to us a democratic deficit that needs to be addressed.

Hitchin Forum: Ellie Clarke NB. Address, Telephone Number and Email address has
been redacted.

The Hitchin Society: Jane Arnold NB. Address, Telephone Number and Email address
has been redacted.

Page 16



15 May 2019

Museum and Town Hall Project Statement

| am Steven James Crowley, Service Director — Commercial at North Hertfordshire District
Council. | have worked for NHDC since 2001, first as an Operation Manager at Hitchin
Swimming Centre and | was the Contract's and Projects Manager when the Museum and
Town Hall project was undertaken.

My first involvement in the project was as a Project Advisor in 2012, at that stage | assisted
Ros Alwood. | was then asked to take over the Project Management responsibility in
September 2012 (approximately, based on the first Highlight report | produced for Project
Board).

| have been a qualified Project Manager since September 2003 (nearly 16 years) and have
been responsible for project managing or advising on many projects on behalf of the council,
these include but are not limited to:-

¢ Project Manager for the build of three dance studios, replacement of changing
rooms to village and air conditioning units £1.6 million. Providing a revenue
reduction of £146,000 per annum to the council (2014).

o Project Advisor for capital improvement scheme to Howard Park and Gardens in
Letchworth £2.7 million (2012) with £1.84 million from the Heritage Lottery Fund
and Big Lottery Fund through the 'Parks for People' scheme.

o Project managed the procurement and tendering of the council’s three leisure
management contracts on three separate occasions

¢ Project managed the procurement, tendering and contract management of the
council’s outdoor markets. Provided in excess of £65,000 per annum revenue
savings

¢ Project managed the ‘design and build’ of a £5 million wet and dry leisure centre
(Royston).

o £1.5 million refurbishment of fitness suite, 2 dance studios, health suite, 4 squash
courts and ancillary facilities (2006). Provided £125,000 annual revenue saving to
the council.

o £1.5 million refurbishment of a reception area, cafeteria and plant room at one of
the council’s leisure centres (2007).

o Project Advisor for North Hertfordshire District Council on the introduction of a
new waste management system to improve the council’s recycling and waste
minimisation.

Page 17



15 May 2019

I am happy to be called as a witness, however this statement provides a general overview
which | hope is useful.

When | first got involved in this project | noticed there was tension between members of
Hitchin Town Hall Ltd (HTHL) and the Council, however, | tried to put that to one side and do
my job. | was most impressed with John Robinsons’ (Project Executive) professionalism
during meeting, as there were times when representatives from HTHL were very direct and
close to being aggressive, however, John always remain calm and professional.

Quite early on in the construction phase we came across an issue which required a
storeroom in the Town Hall to be modified due to the current stair case. | sent over architect
drawings and explained they had to be turned round quickly and they did. This meant the
project could continue without any delays and a small price increase.

Unfortunately the next issue that was identified was the wall that had been built around the
stage. This lead at HTHL accusing the council of being in breach of the Development
Agreement (DA). From this point the project become very difficult to manage. HTHL wanted
access to the site very often to check on the progress, which caused issues with the
contractors (Borras, who could be called to provide evidence) as members of HTHL would
turn up on site excepting to be shown round. The DA agreement stated HTHL could have
reasonable access to the site, however, our contractors felt they were attending site too
often which was impacting on their progress.

John Robinson (Project Executive) chaired project meetings and ensured consultants were
present when required to ensure technical issues were presented and discussed. However,
it wasn’'t clear if HTHL had the relevant professionals to fully understand the technical
aspects. This was apparent a number of times (conduit in main hall and ventilation to name
two, other examples can be provided if required) which caused issues and delays on site
resulting in increase cost to the project.

Conduit and ventilation issue

| was due to show David Leal-Bennett (from HTHL) around site, upon entering the Mountford
Hall he asked me why there was a conduit running the length of the hall. | explained it was to
house the IT cables and electrics. It was clear that he wasn’t expecting this and thought the
cabling would have been imbedded in the brickwork. David also noticed the new ventilation
which had been installed in the hall (above the balcony) and questioned this, | explained
these were shown on the plans, however, he disagreed with me. This resulted in a delay of
the project as Listed Building application has to be obtained and works could not progress
during this time.

As mentioned above, | think one of the biggest issues was the lack of relevant professionals
on HTHL board. | believe this had a major impact on the project as HTHL seemed to focus
on the strategic aspects, but did not understand the detail which is where the council ended
up disagreeing on, this then lead to significant impacts on the length and cost of the project.

| believe the issue with the wall on the stage was a signification turning point on the project,
as from that point the Council and HTHL hardly ever seemed to agree. From my experience,
once trust is lost in a project it is very difficult to deliver within the time and cost, and this is
what happened with this project.

Page 18



1.

Keep Hitchin Special
(Caring for our Historic Market Town)
NB. Address redacted.

Issues that arose with Partners during the Project

a} The Council and its Architect Neal Charlton of Buttress failed to observe the fact
that the Mountford Hall was of a significant architectural merit that it proposed to
develop it into a museum with a mezzanine floor etc. without adequate consultation.
An Options Appraisal dated 4~ September 2009 refers. Because of deep concern
Keep Hitchin Special had no option but to submit an application to English Heritage
on 30+ October 2009 requesting it be listed. This was confirmed by EH on 3+
December 2009 and agreed as a Grade |l on 16~ August 2010. Time and
unnecessary expenditure was incurred by the Council. A detailed report by Scott
Wilson completing an assessment of a Hall Retained and Gym Retained scheme
was presented in October 2010 only then was the Mountford Hall together with the
Lucas Room retained.

b) Instruction was given by the council to protect the Mountford Hall floor and its
adjusting mechanism. During the period of reconstruction by Borras. When all
directors of HTHL were banned from site, a fork lift truck carrying composite concrete
blocks and cement was driven onto the floor subsequently damaging the mechanism
for the sprung floor adjustment. These blocks were used to divide the stage, another
controversial decision which was contrary to that contracted.

Authorised access was given to me to witness this incident.

c) The Council obtained planning approval and built on land it did not own. Re: 14 &
15 Brand Street.
d) An establish right of way was removed during the redevelopment.

e) A company called Light Brigade Media Corporation Ltd contracted to work on the
museum went into administration in March 2016 part way through this work creating
a lot of disruption. This might not have happened had proper credit checking been
done on this company before offering a contract. This seemed to be a problem with
previous contractors and something the council should be more aware of.

f) Work was being completed without listed building consent. This consent was being
requested retrospectively ref. 14/01633/1LB. Changes to the original plans were
being made without consultation with HTHL and subsequently the local community
groups. The council takes a very dim view on retrospective planning applications and
we were surprised that it was ok for them to do it themselves.

g) Project reports by the Strategic Director Customer Services were made without a
written report, this happened at Hitchin Committee where these were hand written
(back of a fag packet) during the Hitchin Town Talk and then presented at Hitchin
Committee. This did not give Councillors a fair opportunity to make comment.

h) The public were concerned about the expenditure as the project proceeded
particularly the amount of 106 monies allocated to other projects which were diverted

Page 19



to pay for extra expenditure on the District Museum. Maybe this was in Part |l papers
but not something that should have been hidden from public view.

j) The quality of workmanship when refurbishing the Mountford Hall was very poor
and this can be seen now that paint is flaking off the walls carpets lifting etc. As a
listed building this deserved a little more care and consideration than was awarded it.
There was a public outcry at the loss of the back of the stage and changing rooms
which prevents use for pantomimes and quality stage productions. This we
understand is still not used for museum storage because of problems with damp.

k) This particular project was managed by the Strategic Director of Customer
Services who appeared to find it difficult to communicate effectively with local
community groups preferring to work independently ignoring any constructive
comment from individuals or groups to the detriment of the project. This is a real pity
because projects working in partnership with the council recently have been
productive and a pleasure to deal with

How did the Council and its Partners seek to resolve these issues?

We would appreciate comment on this.

How effective were these approaches?

Several of these concerns were raised at various Council Committees in Public
Participation where there is no feedback.

What lessons can be learnt to improve future working relationships with partners?

Be very careful what is contained within any development agreements. “Partner
beware”

That recently communication has improved and it has been a pleasure to deal with
the councils officers when working on a joint project e.g. leasing and refurbishment of
Walsworth Community Centre etc.

Chris Parker
Chairman
13» June 2019
NB. Telephone Number has been redacted.

Page 20



Scutiny Review: Hitchin Town Hall/ North Hertfordshire Museum Project

Witness Statement: Hitchin Initiative

Background

Hitchin Initiative (formerly Hitchin Town Centre Initiative) has worked in partnership with
North Hertfordshire District Council on a huge variety of projects both large and small for the
past 25 years. One of our main roles as a Town Centre Partnership is be the effective
conduit between the private and public sectors. Our joint partnership working has been
across all portfolio areas, officer engagement at all levels including regular meetings with the
Chief Executive and members of the Senior Management Team. Engagement with Elected
Members of all parties has been through individual collaboration and more formally through
the Area Committee, Cabinet and Full Council structures. Engagement of one form or
another with officers or elected members is weekly if not daily. Due to the longevity and
regularity of engagement between the two organisations it is natural to have experienced
everything from truly positive, successful project outcomes to protracted, combative
negotiations that end in failure. It is this diversity of direct partnership experience that helps
provide measure and balance to this submission. We remain NHDC'’s “critical friend’.

Hitchin Initiative (HI) Specific Project Involvement.

From 2006 to the inception of the charity Hitchin Town Hall Ltd (HTH Ltd) in 2012 Hitchin
Initiative was the anchor organisation that worked with the community and civic
organisations to oppose NHDC’s proposals to let Hitchin Town Hall on a commercial lease to a 3w
party operator, bought forward the vision plan to bring in 14/15 Brand Street to create

The Town Hall and District Museum and led on the funding application to the then
Community Builders Fund which successfully bought in circa £1m to the project. Once HTH
Ltd was formed HI was no longer required to play a lead role. As the project developed and
serious issues arose HI continued behind the scenes to assist.

1. What were the issues that arose with partners during the Project?
Difference in interpretation of definition of Partnership working

Variations to Build Contract of a substantial nature without partnership discussion or
consent that impacted business plan and ability to deliver on it.

‘Them and Us’ culture

Interpretation of Local Government rules and regulations

Personality clashes that resulted in distrust and had major negative impact over
months/years.

Lack of acceptance of the professional skills and experience of the HI/HTH Ltd team
which has resulted in further public money needing to be spent on the building to
make it fit for purpose.

Discussions with HTH Ltd bankers without consent resulted in complete breakdown
of the project relationships.

2. How did the Council and its partners seek to resolve the issues ?

Page 21



Combination of individual meetings, Project Board discussions, emails trails and
forms of mediation.

3. How effective were those approaches?
Became considerably less effective over the lifetime of the project as relationships
and trust broke down.
Project Board ineffective as a forum to resolve differences.

4. What lessons can be learnt to improve future working relationships with
partners.

There needs to be an understanding from both private and public sectors of the very
real differences between the two. The Chair of Community Builders Fund flagged the
issue at the first joint meeting and this should have been taken more seriously.

Genuine, consistent and effective Senior Officer involvement in community engagement
may help with this understanding.

Issues such as a personality clash must be confronted swiftly to avoid project impact.

HI holds files relating to this project that extend to paperwork 14” tall and over 2,000
emails. Contained within these emails and files is significant evidence to back the points
made above. It is impossible to include all relevant information within the set 2 x A4
sides limit. We welcome this Independent Scrutiny Review and happily volunteer to
make these files available on a strictly confidential basis if it would assist. In addition we
would welcome the opportunity to answer questions at the Panel hearing.

Morag Norgan

Chairman Hitchin Initiative

Nb. Email address and telephone number has been redacted.

Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Witness Statement
From Hitchin Town Hall Ltd
To

Scrutiny Review Panel

We feel rather than restricting input into your review to just written statements you
should meet with all the individuals involved in the project. If this is not done then we
are afraid that the community will come to the inescapable conclusion that your
review will be a whitewash.

Would you please confirm that your terms of reference allow you to interview the
individuals involved and that you will be doing so.

As an initial ‘heads up’ we respond as follows:
1. What were the issues that arose with the partners during the project?

Looking at the situation from a high level, a group of professional individuals with the
support of the local community groups, created Hitchin Town Hall Ltd ("HTH") and
managed to raise over £1m for this project.

Unfortunately owing to the determination, we believe, of the executive at NHDC,
who in effect always wished to run the facility, it has been impossible to proceed in
the manner envisaged in our original Business Case.

A short form summary of our dispute with NHDC is as follows:

A second Development Agreement ("DA") (replacing the first) was entered into
between NHDC and HTH on 9th September 2013.

NHDC awarded the building contract to Borras Construction Limited,

The same being recorded in an Agreement dated 6th February 2014 (a copy being
supplied to HTH on that date), construction having commenced, it is understood, on
3rd November 2013. The DA had within it many ‘red line’ requirements for the
development of the Town Hall. It is now clear that the building contract awarded to
Borras ignored many of these and in effect, from the very start, side-lined our
contractual requirements and we believe (and we were legally advised) were in
breach.

There had never been an easy relationship between HTH and the officers of NHDC
(but considerable support from the elected councillors). HTH were not treated as
stakeholders who were introducing circa one million pounds into the project and
would then be running it for the lease period of 125 years. There were numerous
issues relating to the quality of the end product.

For an example the provision of museum stores at the rear of the stage had been the
greatest concession made by the community groups supporting HTH but only on the
basis that it could be removed at a later date. The agreed wording in the Listed
Building application prepared by BFAW being “The second intervention is the
addition of an acoustic screen to the stage — reducing its capacity and insulating the

Page 25



stage from the dwellings to the rear of the complex. This stud wall would be
acoustically isolated, and ultimately reversible to recreate the full stage capacity”.

In fact what was built was a permeant concreate wall.

HTH requested that work on this wall be stopped but this was not agreed to. A
dispute arose between the parties. Ducts, plant and pipes have subsequently been
installed behind the wall and its removal and the reinstatement of the stage would be a
massive and costly exercise.

It was apparent to the Directors/Trustees of HTH and the community groups, to whom
the Directors/Trustees regularly reported, that the relationship between NHDC and its
major stakeholder had broken down.

Accordingly, and with great reluctance, on 9th October 2014, HTH gave formal

notice pursuant to section 8.3 of the Development Agreement that in their opinion the
breaches of the Development Agreement by NHDC constituted a material breach and
accordingly terminated the agreement.

By letter dated 23rd October 2014, HTH gave notice to exercise the ‘Put Option’
granted to it by Clause 11 of the Agreement in respect of No’s 14 and 15 Brand
Street, the purchase price payable being £440,000.

NHDC have not accepted that the Development Agreement was validly terminated
and accordingly had refused to comply with the terms of the Put Option
2. How did the Council and its partners seek to resolve those issues?

Stone walled us with ‘process’ and not treating us as partners (treated us as an
annoying community group).
3. How effective were those approaches?

Not effective as far as we are concerned but probably very effective at protecting and
reinforcing the position of the relevant NHDC officers.

4. What lessons can be learnt to improve future working relationships with
partners?

Work much harder at partnership relationships, particularly with community groups
and have much more detailed scrutiny of officer actions and reports with political
oversite.

S.V.Pike

Chairman

Hitchin Town Hall Ltd.

13/6/19

Page 26



Page 27



NB: As submitted and for completeness the following two pages have been included.
However, only the first two pages have been considered by the Panel, as per the requirement
stipulated in the 'Call for Written Witness Statements' document.

Page 28


hdineen_6
Typewriter
NB: As submitted and for completeness the following two pages have been included. 
However, only the first two pages have been considered by the Panel, as per the requirement
stipulated in the 'Call for Written Witness Statements' document.

hdineen_7
Typewriter

hdineen_8
Typewriter

hdineen_9
Typewriter


Page 29



Page 30



Dear Mr Richardson,

Hitchin Town Hall and Museum Project Review

| am a now retired solicitor. My firm, HRJ Foreman Laws of Bancroft, Hitchin, acted on a
non-profit basis or Hitchin Town Hall Ltd. (‘HTHL’) In the period leading up to and
completion of the second Development Agreement. The firm was pleased to be associated
with this community project.

To my mind, the review should look at the project in three phases.

1. From commencement of the legal work to the date the second Development
Agreement was completed.

2. The period through to withdrawal of HTHL from the project due to the alleged
breaches of contract by NHDC.

3. The negotiation by NHDC of its purchase of 15 Brand Street Hitchin from the social
investment bank (as it had not accepted the mechanism and price set out in the
Development Agreement) and its subsequent purchase from Hitchin Town Hall
Finance Ltd.

My firm was not engaged with phases 2 and 3 as we did not wish to advise on litigation
against NHDC in respect of this community project. | was personally well aware of problems
arising during these latter phases and attended meetings as | was concerned that what had
taken many hours of voluntary time would be lost.

In my view the following need to be addressed in relation to future project partnerships.

1. NHDC should always appoint an external project manager and not use heavily engaged
Officers to take the role of project manager when they are already in a naturally close
relationship with Councillors as employee and employer.

2. It has to be recognised that most Councillors do not have commercial, construction,
development or legal expertise to challenge Officers on the detail of a project and must
set aside sufficient time and if necessary, call upon third party expertise.

3. NHDC should respect the views and expertise of their partners. In this instance, HTHL
were responsible for procuring £1.5 million in loans and grants, obtained planning
permission and listed building consent for the development to include 15 and 16 Brand
Street on favourable terms with vacant possession and were about to embark on a
£300,000 fund raising campaign. Its team included an architect, planner, estate agent,
senior surveyors, accountant, sound engineer, marketing experts, a banker and myself
with 40 years experience of property development and construction.

4. The Development Agreement incorporated the ‘Prince 2 protocol’ to be followed when
working in partnerships such as this. HTHL complained that minutes and notes did not
accurately record issues raised at meetings particularly in relation to the basic HTHL
requirements which were not addressed. The protocol did not appear to be followed.

Page 31



5. There needs to be openness. The use of Part 2 in Council meetings meant that HTHL
could not know what was being reported to the Councillors and it felt as if HTHL was
being briefed against with no opportunity to respond.

6. There were disagreements and personal issues between directors of HTHL and Officers
of NHDC and also, it appeared, within the Conservative group which was allowed to
colour NHDC’S opinion of HTHL as a whole. There were faults on both sides but
relationships should not have been allowed to hinder the project. The Chief Executive of
the Council should be prepared to stand back, review and bring matters back on an even
keel.

Being retired, | do not have access to my files but should be pleased to give oral evidence
based on my memory of events.

Yours sincerely

David [Morgan]

Page 32



SCRUTINY REVIEW: HITHIN TOWN HALL/NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE MUSEUM
PRGJECT

{ wish to respond to your call for evidence with regard to the above. | would point out that as
Leader of the Council | received regular updates through the entire process and detailed
briefings routinely after either Project Board meetings or NHDC/HTH LTD meetings, but for
your exercise | wish to give evidence on the actions within the process where | was personally

involved.

1. What were the issues that arose with partners during the Project? One of my main
concerns was the total lack of abiding by what had been agreed either at the
commencement of the project or measures put in place during to ensure a workable
continuance.

To support this statement | would quote the very unforfunate email received at NHDC by
accident and its contents, regarding the safety of an officer, leading to a written agreement
from HTH Ltd that the HTH Ltd member on the Project Board would be replaced and another
trustee would be the new project board member. The very next project board, which | attended
in the Portfolio Holder's absence, this agreement was totally overridden and ignored.

Although only quoting one incidence, this very much became a pattern throughout the process
and | would be able to give further examples if requested.

2. How did the Council and its partners seek to resolve those issues? The issues that
arose with regard to the Development Agreement from HTH Ltd had processes to be
followed within that Agreement but these were never exercised by HTH Ltd.

At one stage it was agreed that a mediator be engaged. NHDC agreed to pay any costs for
this, as HTH Ltd explained they did not have the finances to share the fee, but again a HTH
Ltd trustee approached a councillor who's occupation was a solicitor to recommend a firm that
HTH Ltd could contact for a Mediator this happened without NHDC knowledge. Upon [earning
of this | asked the CE to contact the Institute of Arbitrators, (which was his suggestion to
maintain a truly independent person) an institute who also have professional Mediators to
provide an independent person. This was actioned but not without a personal attack on

myself. The meeting took place.

The contents of this confidential meeting were shared with councillors, by HTH Lid, who then
raised the content of the mesting at the next Council meeting, but with incorrect information

being supplied.

3. How effective were those approaches? Unfortunately not very successful as
consequently there was an approach to the Hitchin Area Committee by an HTH Ltd
trustee, and this commitiee was chaired at that time by another HTH Lid Trustee for
roughly £70,000 to assist in meeting commitments made to residents who had
contributed financially to the project. | asked the CE the following morning what we
knew about this, what the Project Board knew about this but no further information was
forthcoming as to how this amount had been arrived at, or any additional information
with regard to whom the money was owed.

Page 33




The CE and | were then asked for a meeting by SIB at which they informed us because of
multiple breaches of their financial agreement by HTH Ltd they were not prepared to forward
further funds and woulid be closing down their interest in the project. A request was made for
a written confirmation on the part of SIB of the content of this meeting which was received.

This then led to meetings with SIB where they notified us of how much of the originally agreed
funding had been forwarded to HTH Ltd and roughly the breakdown between grant and loan
and SIB seeking back form the tax payer the full repayment. Negotiations were entered into
but not finalised. NHDC were being requested to reimburse SIB with no knowledge of where
the money had been committed with the negotiations between SIB and HTHL being strictly

confidential at their request.

Eventually a payment was made to SIB by HTH Finance and the charge over 14/15 Brand St
being passed to them and negotiations with NHDC commencing.

This was followed by an emergency item at Cabinet in March 2017 agreeing a payment of
£550.000 which we understand would bring the project to a conclusion. However, the HTH
Ltd/HTH Finance negotiating team changed without notice and included a member whom it
had been agreed initially would not be Included, with suddenly many extra clauses regarding
the Museum and Town Hall and nothing to do with 14/15 Brand Street the subject of the

negotiations.

4 What lessons can be learnt to improve future working relationships with pariners? Make it
clear at the onset, that financial dealings and interactions with third parties (SIB and many
financial contributors from other sources) are available to all parties. The Council has a
responsibility to be open but certainly there are still many questions about where the SIB
money had been expended. This was a project for North Herts, not an adversarial enterprise,
where information was not to be shared and certainly it was confidential when HTH Ltd and
HTH Finance wished, which was honoured during the total exercise by NHDC but not on every
occasion by HTH ltd. Many reports went to Full Council, Cabinet and Hitchin Area Committee
and NHDC Auditors were kept in the picture all the way and financial statements regarding
this project were in the regular reports to Cabinet and FAR, which were available to all.

Equally this exercise has proved the difficulty experienced when a Trustee is also an elected
Councillor and from my perspective certainly on occasions attempts at biurring the lines of
negotiating/client areas caused unnecessary extra issues.

Lynda Needham

NB: Address, Email Address and Telephone Number have been redacted

Page 34




Hitchin Town Hall & North Herts Museum Review
Background

| am David Scholes and | am the Chief Executive at North Hertfordshire District Council. | have held that position
since 2012 and prior to that | held positions as Head of Planning (2002-2009) and Director of Planning, Housing &
Enterprise (2009-2012). As Chief Executive | undertake the statutory function of Head of Paid Service as well as being
the Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer for the Council. | am a Chartered Member of the Royal Town
Planning Institute and have over 30 years experience in both the pubic and private sectors. | have extensive
experience in dealing with complex development and land assembly projects including handling large scale
developments.

The Project

The project has a long history which predates my involvement and | understand that the review panel has access to all
relevant papers. In essence, the project emanated from a desire by the Council to replace two existing museums
which were not fit for purpose with a single District museum which afforded better facilities and access to exhibits.
This represented a significant capital investment for the Council but this would be offset by reduced running costs as
stated in the business case. The initial project involved relocating the museums into the Hitchin Town Hall building.
Following campaigns by a number of local groups who were opposed to the relocation of the museums in the town
hall building and wished to save the Town Hall as a community/ entertainment venue the building was Listed as

being of architectural/historic importance. A proposal came forward initially by Hitchin Initiative to use an adjacent
building and other land within the control of the Council & Working Mens’ Club for a bespoke museum whilst
retaining/enhancing the town hall for community use.

Project Governance

The Council uses Prince 2 project methodology for running is larger projects — this being one such project. The Full
Council made decisions on the principle of the project, financial parameters and agreed the detail of the
development arrangements (Development Agreement 1 & 2 — DA1&2). Exceptions reports were made to Full Council
when there were variances which could not be contained within the agreed parameters.

Key Points
Complexity of the project — project partners

The project involved a wide range of partners — NHDC, The Working Mens’ Trust, Hitchin Town Hall Limited, Hitchin
Initiative (early stages), Adventure Capital Fund (Social Investment Bank) and The National Lottery. Following the
withdrawal of financial support by ACF/SIB a new company was established — HTH Finance. The range of partners,
their skills/experience and often competing demands placed additional burdens on the project as it progressed.

Skill base of the partner organisations

Local community representatives stated (on the one hand) that they had expertise and skills in certain aspects of the
project yet then stated that they were voluntary groups and did not have the necessary skill/capacity to deliver a
project on the agreed project timescales.

Lack of clarity (perceived or real) in relation to project outputs

A key issue arose at an early stage of the project build in relation to the specification of the build. Whilst full
construction plans had been supplied by Buttress to HTHL at an early stage it became apparent that they had not
been fully evaluated/understood. This lead to the ‘dispute’ in relation to the method of construction of the wall to
the rear of the stage and claims that the Council had carried out unauthorised works involving alterations to the
heating pipes in the reception area and surface ducting in the town hall.

Loss of faith and trust between the partners

Page 35



This manifested itself in a substantial way following the instigation of the first phase of dispute resolution
procedures by HTHL to which the Council responded and no further action being taken by HTHL to either accept the
response or escalate the matter in accordance with the terms of DA2.

At around this time (Spring 2014) ACF/SIB were considering whether HTHL needed additional capacity building
support to enable it (HTHL) to achieve its fund raising objectives and meet the loan/grant conditions between it
(HTHL) and ACF/SIB. The Council could also recognise that there were difficulties and was supportive of HTHL being
provided with resource. In May 2014 ACF/SIB stated that it was not in a position at that time to provide support. On
the 27 August 2014 | received an e mail from ACF/SIB requesting an urgent private meeting with myself and the
Leader of The Council. That meeting took place on the 29 August and we were advised that ACF/SIB would be
withdrawing their funding offer to HTHL due to multiple breaches of the funding agreement by HTHL. ACF/SIB would
also be seeking to reclaim monies already advanced. There were numerous meetings with ACF/SIB in the ensuing
months and then in January 2015 the Council agreed to make an offer to purchase the property (known as 14/15
Brand Street) which acted as security for the loan/grant in the event that the property was put on the market. This
occurred through a Land and Property Act (LPA) Receiver appointment. The Council made a bid within the
prescribed timescale having taken expert valuation advice. The period for bids was subsequently extended by
approximately 1 month. The Council bid was not considered as the LPA receiver was ‘stood down’ when ACF/SIB sold
the debt to a newly formed company, HTH Finance Limited.

Extensive negotiations took place between HTHL/HTH Finance and the Council to seek to secure the acquisition of
14/15 Brand Street. The sum for acquisition was settled relatively quickly and it was thought that the terms of the
settlement were well progressed. The former owner of the properties 14/15 Brand Street was party to the
negotiations (in a role as Director of HTH Finance) and advocated completion of contracts by mid May 2017. That did
not occur and the terms of the purchase became embroiled in an extensive dispute. Eventually after a protracted
period of over 2 years the acquisition took place in January 2019.

Balance of risk and responsibility

The Council procured the architects (Buttress) and tendered the construction contract. The Council ran the project
management and took responsibility for paying the contract sums with the exception of the final sum which, by
virtue of DA2, was due to be paid by HTHL from a combination of loan/grant and fund raising. HTHL did not pay that
final sum and the cost fell to the Council. The balance of risk lay with the Council in considering the progression of
the project and the reports to Full Council reflected that factual position.

Outcomes From The Project

The Council has re-provided its museum service in a state of the art modern facility in accordance with the original
project objective.

The delivery of the museum has taken longer than anticipated and has been opened in a phased way due to the
dispute with HTHL/HTHF regarding land formerly known as 14/15 Brand Street.

Hitchin Town Hall has been retained for community/leisure use and has been refurbished/enhanced in accordance
with the specification of DA2. Additional enhancements are underway in addition to those in DA2 which includes
sound attenuation measures and improvements to the floor surface.

The hall is in use and is used for a mixture of community and commercial events. The Council operates the hall in
accordance with an agreed business plan based upon the principles of the HTHL business plan.

The capital cost of the project to the Council has increased but the Council retains the town hall rather than it being
operated on a 125 year lease by HTHL. The income from the town hall and café are an additional revenue source for
the Council.

Page 36



Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	1 HEARING PROCEDURE
	2 WITNESS STATEMENTS
	John Robinson Witness Statement
	Colin Dunham Witness Statement
	Rosemary Read Witness Statement
	Hitchin Forum & Hitchin Society Witness Statement
	Steve Crowley Witness Statement
	Keep Hitchin Special Witness Statement
	Hitchin Initiative Witness Statement
	Patricia Cowley Witness Statement
	Stephen Pike Witness Statement
	David Leal-Bennett Witness Statement
	David Morgan Witness Statement
	Lynda Needham Witness Statement
	David Scholes Witness Statement
	Brent Smith Witness Statement




